A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. There was insufficient evidence to permit 

the jury to be unanimous as to an individual act of 

sexual intercourse for any of the charged counts. 

2. Appellant is denied his constitutional 

right to an appeal and to an adequate record for 

appeal where the court did not preserve the record 

and it cannot be reconstructed. 

3. The court erred in admitting evidence 

under ER 404(b). 

4. Appellant assigns error to Finding No. 

1. l 

5 . Appellant assigns error to Finding No. 2. 

6. Appellant assigns error to Finding No. 3 . 

7 . Appellant assigns error to Finding No. 4. 

8 . Appellant assigns error to Finding No. 5. 

9. The court denied appellant due process, 

confrontation, and the right to present a defense 

when the court excluded evidence of the complaining 

witness's reports of prior abuse. 

1 The court's Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law re: ER 404(b), CP 93-96, are 
attached as Appendix A to this brief. Each 
challenged finding is quoted in full below. 
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10. Appellant was denied due process and the 

right to present a defense when the court excluded 

evidence that the complaining witness knew of the 

other witness's allegations against the defendant, 

and the prosecutor argued the jury should believe 

her because she and the other witness did not know 

each other. 

11. Appellant assigns error to the court's 

finding and order on financial obligations: 

Having considered the defendant's present 
and likely future financial resources, 
the Court concludes that the defendant 
has the present or likely future ability 
to pay the financial obligations imposed. 

CP 58, , 4.2. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Where the State charged multiple crimes 

requiring acts committed when the child was in 

certain age ranges, and presented evidence that 

sexual intercourse occurred multiple times within 

each age range, but offered no evidence 

distinguishing any one incident of sexual 

intercourse, is the evidence sufficient to permit a 

jury to be unanimous to a single act of sexual 

intercourse for any one count? 
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2. If the evidence does not permit even the 

prosecutor to identify a single incident of sexual 

intercourse for any one charge, is the evidence 

insufficient to guarantee the constitutional right 

to a unanimous jury verdict? 

3. Does a common scheme or plan for a sex 

offense under ER 404(b) require evidence of a plan 

to accomplish the crime, as opposed to modus 

operandi comparing similar traits of how the crime 

was committed to prove identity? 

4. Did the trial court conflate the analyses 

for common scheme or plan and modus operandi? 

5. Did the record support the trial court's 

findings of fact re ER 404(b)? 

6. Did the court deny appellant's rights to 

due process, 

confrontation 

to 

by 

present a 

excluding 

defense, 

evidence 

and to 

of the 

complaining witness's reports of earlier abuse? 

7. Did the court deny appellant's rights to 

due process and to present a defense when it 

excluded evidence that the complaining witness knew 

of the other witness's allegations? 

8. Was appellant denied due process when the 

prosecutor argued the jury should believe the 
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complaining witness because she and the other 

witness did not know each other when the 

prosecutor knew the two witnesses knew of each 

other's allegations? 

9. Did the court err by imposing costs 

without inquiring into appellant's means to pay? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. BACKGROUND OF CHARGES 

a. Jesci in Washington 

Jesci Shelton2 was born March 1, 1995, to 17-

year-old Elizabeth Garcia. At age 19, Elizabeth 

left her two-year-old daughter with her mother in 

Montana. She later brought Jesci to live with her 

in Seattle. She had two more children with John 

Burke. RP 585-89, 712-13. Elizabeth worked as an 

exotic dancer, but told her children she was a 

bookkeeper. RP 629-30. 

Elizabeth and Eric Schneider married in 

December, 2005. RP 593-95. Eric worked as a 

plumber and laborer. Elizabeth often worked nights 

while Eric cared for the children. RP 596-600. 

2 The court approved using full names as 
both complainants were adults by trial. RP 121. 
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Eric was the first father Jesci ever had. 

They attended a father-daughter dance. In her 

teenaged years, due to too much "drama, " Eric 

insisted she come home from school rather than hang 

out with her friends. RP 1164, 1291-92; Ex. 43. 

b. Custody Issues in Oregon 

Eric had three children from a previous 

marriage with Jessica White. They separated in 

2001. In 2003, he and Jessica disputed custody. 

Jessica discussed her situation with her sisters 

Monica and Alicia3 Swanson of Riverside, 

California. Alicia said Eric raped her during two 

visits in Spokane and Oregon years earlier. At age 

16 in 2003, Alicia gave a video interview at the 

Riverside Police Department, which passed the 

information on to the Spokane police. Exs. 1-B, 2-

A. 

In 2010, Eric petitioned the Oregon court for 

visitation with his children. Ex. 45. To prevent 

visitation, Alicia contacted the Boardman Oregon 

police to report Eric Schneider had raped her there 

years earlier. Ex. 1-A at 4-5. 

3 The trial transcripts, prepared from 
audio recordings, spell the name "Alisha," but the 
earlier interviews establish it is "Alicia." 
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c. Custody Issues With Elizabeth 

In the later years of his marriage with 

Elizabeth, Eric had affairs. He brought women 

home. Jesci met some of them: Adrienne, Brittany, 

Ashley. He told her they were just friends. Jesci 

was upset about his affairs. RP 797-801. When 

Elizabeth discovered the affairs, she became 

physically ill. RP 798-801. 

In the fall of 2011, Elizabeth and Eric 

separated. Their separation began agreeably. RP 

600-01. They initially planned Jesci and one 

brother would live with Eric. RP 797-98. Once 

again, Elizabeth planned to let her daughter live 

with someone else. RP 634. 

Jesci was very unhappy about the destruction 

of her family and the custody plans. She gave 

Elizabeth a letter for Eric, expressing her 

heartbreak, her anger at his lies and affairs, and 

a warning not to hurt her family again. Ex. 4. 4 

The next day, Jesci told her mother Eric had 

been sexually abusing her. RP 603. 

4 A copy of Ex. 4 is attached as Appendix 
B. 
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2. EVIDENCE OFFERED UNDER ER 404(b) 

The State offered Alicia Swanson's testimony 

under ER 404(b) to prove a common scheme or plan. 

Rather than have either woman5 testify, it offered 

police reports, multiple transcripts, audio 

recordings, and a video interview. The materials 

included statements by both women. Defense counsel 

noted the video was important because it included 

responses that were labeled "no response heard" in 

the transcript ·of the interview. RP 188-90, 234. 6 

The court later stated, in considering whether it 

found Alicia's allegations proven by 

preponderance: 

I reviewed the videotape of Alisha 
Swanson because I think that's important. 
Not that this court has any clairvoyant 
powers to assess another person's truth 
telling ability. However, with these 
types of allegations, I think it relevant 
and proper to assess how an alleged 
victim presents herself, that is, is this 
a person that is acting and presents as 
appropriate with what is being alleged. 

a 

5 At the time of trial, Jesci was 19, CP l; 
Alicia was 26, RP 926. 

6 Indeed, the transcript states 
"unintelligible" a total of 129 times, sometimes 10 
time on a single page, and "no response heard" an 
additional six times. Ex. 1-B. 
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RP 238. 7 

The court and parties discussed the items at 

some length, never systematically identifying them 

and not marking anything as an exhibit. RP 167-96, 

233-38. In an effort to recreate the record, some 

were later marked as Post-Trial Exhibits 1-A 

through 1-H. RP(12/9/14); CP 110-13. 

However, no one located the video recording, 

nor one of the audio recordings. CP 110-13. 

a. Jesci Shelton's Allegations 

At age 16, Jesci said Eric first raped her 

when she was seven. Ex . 1-G at 3 , 6 , 9 - 1 O , 6 6 . 

They were in the car. He told the boys to go play 

in the woods and took her into the backseat to sit 

on his lap. He wanted her to talk about what 

another man had done to her when she was five . 

"And so I did." He explained he was doing this so 

she could move on from what John did to her; that 

he loved her, and this was how he was expressing 

his love. He tried to penetrate her vaginally, but 

when she said that hurt, he penetrated her anally. 

7 The court later assured the parties it 
had reviewed everything counsel gave to it -- it 
just wasn't sure what all it had received and 
reviewed. RP(12/9/14) 13-14. 
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He told her "all that matters is feeling good. You 

don't have to worry about anything else. 

Just ... try and feel good." Ex. 1-G at 4-6. He 

again had anal sex in the truck with her after a 

father-daughter dance, when she was 7-8. Ex. 1-G 

73. Her whole life, he told her they were doing 

this because he loved her. Ex. 1-F at 29. 

Jesci reported Eric was gentle with her while 

she was young; in later years he got rough. He 

wanted her to say she loved him, that they were in 

a relationship. She wasn't to see any other boys. 

She wore a heart ring basically as a wedding ring. 

He spoke of divorcing her mom and marrying her. 

She thought they had a very close personal 

relationship. Ex. 1-G at 7-8, 16, 25-26, 43. 

Eric would take her various places to have 

sex. Often it was in the vehicle. Ex. 1-G at 11, 

13 . He took her to empty houses under 

construction. Ex. 1-G at 7. He rented a motel 

room for a couple of hours. Ex. 1-G at 72. Over 

the years they also had sex at home, in Jesci' s 

bedroom, in Eric and Elizabeth's bedroom, and once 

on the couch. Ex. 1-G at 11-12, 35-37. After sex, 

Eric bought her special things. Ex. 1-G at 72. 
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The sex began with anal penetration. He "was 

more of an anal person." Ex. 1-G at 7, 74. But he 

also used dildos and vibrators and performed 

multiple penetrations simultaneously. Ex. 1-G at 

9. She said he'd carved his initials into her 

pubis with a knife; and he penetrated her vaginally 

with his handgun. Ex. 1-G at 44, 56-59. 

He showed Jesci pornography and suggested 

things they saw that she could do to him. Ex. 1-G 

at 14, 35. He took videos of them, and he had her 

take videos and photos of herself to send to him on 

their phones. Ex. 1-G at 14, 35, 39-41. He often 

had her dress up in lingerie, stockings, and high 

heels. Ex. 1-G at 7, 11-12, 35-36. 

Jesci didn't tell for many reasons. She 

thought he loved her. In later years, he 

threatened to hurt her or divorce her mother and 

marry her, but the threats didn't influence her as 

much as feeling bad about herself, thinking her 

mother would be disappointed in her. 

17-18. 

Ex. 1-G at 

At age 15, Jesci learned Eric was having 

affairs with other women. She said she wanted a 
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break from having sex with him. Then he struck her 

and had sex with her forcibly. Ex. 1-G at 18. 

b. Alicia Swanson's Allegations 

Alicia Swanson was born November 30, 1987. 

She lived in Riverside, California with her mother. 

Ex. 1-B at 1, 47. 

Alicia visited Jessica and Eric in Spokane, 

Washington, in November-December, 2000. Jessica 

was expecting their third daughter. Alicia planned 

to be present for the birth. Alicia said on 

November 30, her 12th birthday, she was asleep on 

the couch at Jessica's home. Jessica had gone to a 

doctor's appointment that morning. Eric came to 

the couch, lifted the covers off, lay on top of 

her, pulled down her pants and had sex with her. 

Alicia cried and tried to stop it. He had one hand 

over her mouth and held her hand above her head. 

Ex. 1-B at 58-61. 

Alicia variously reported if she told, Eric 

threatened to hurt the girls or her sister, hurt 

her sister and make sure she never saw the girls 

again, kill her and her sister, and kill the girls 

too. Ex. 1-B at 58, 62, 70, 74; Ex. 1-A at 5, 24; 

Ex. 1-E at 6-7; Ex. 1-C at 5. 
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During the month Alicia was in Spokane, Eric 

raped her two or three times. Ex. 1-B at 63 (three 

times in three different rooms) ; Ex. 1-C at 9 

(twice in two different rooms) . The second time 

she was sleeping on the floor in the kids' bedroom. 

He penetrated her quickly; it lasted 10-30 seconds, 

then he walked away. Ex. 1-B at 64-67. 

The third time was in Eric's and Jessica's 

bedroom. He ordered her into the bedroom. When 

she said no, he ordered her to do what he said. He 

told her to get undressed, she cried and said no. 

He got angry, said she was going to make this worse 

on herself. Then he raped her, the same as the two 

other times. Ex. 1-B at 68-69. 

He never hit her with a fist or slapped her; 

he grabbed her hair, held her down, and lay on top 

of her so she couldn't get up. Ex. 1-A at 24. 

In April, when their youngest child was only a 

few months old, Jessica and Eric separated. 

Jessica lived in Boardman, Oregon. Alicia went to 

visit her, understanding Eric would not be there. 

But Eric and Jessica reunited while she was there. 

Ex. 1-C at 11, Ex. 1-A at 12. Alicia said he raped 

her more than once at that apartment, but she only 
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remembered one time. After horseback riding, they 

were going to a barbecue at Eric's parents' home. 

Alicia got horse manure on her and wanted to shower 

and change clothes. Eric was returning to the 

apartment for something. Jessica told her to go 

with Eric. Alicia tried to resist, but Jessica 

insisted. At the apartment, Eric pushed her down 

on the living room floor and raped her. Ex. 1-A at 

10-11, 1-B at 72-73, 1-C at 16. 

In her first three interviews, Alicia reported 

all the rapes were only vaginal. Exs. 1-A at 21, 

1-B at 69, 1-C at 6, 16. 

In 2014, in preparation for this trial, Alicia 

reported he put his hand around her neck almost the 

entire time, making it hard for her to breath. Ex. 

1-C at 6. She now claimed he raped her vaginally, 

orally and anally. Ex. 1-C at 10. She now 

believed he had videotaped the rape in their 

bedroom in Spokane, because Jessica said she once 

saw a video of herself, and also saw a video of a 

young girl -- although she didn't identify it as 

Alicia. Ex. 1-C at 9. Alicia now claimed he told 

her he had recorded the rape. Ex. 1-C at 17. She 

reported for the first time that he asked her to 
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put on Jessica's Spanx, but she refused. She "saw" 

high heels. Ex. 1-C at 10, 29. 

She noted Eric was circumcised and he said he 

was "fixed" so she couldn't get pregnant. Ex. 1-C 

at 7-8; Ex. 1-A at 19. 

c. Court's Findings re ER 404(b) 

The court admitted Alicia Swanson's testimony 

under ER 404(b) to prove a common scheme or plan. 

RP 239-51. It concluded the evidence manifested "a 

general plan, a design to fulfill his sexual 

compulsions." RP 249. It entered written Findings 

of Fact re ER 404(b), specifically relying on "the 

four part balancing test approved by the Washington 

State Supreme Court in State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 

168 (2007). 118 CP 93-96 (see Appendix A) . 

3. OTHER PROCEDURAL FACTS 

a. Competency Issue 

Before trial, Mr. Schneider experienced a head 

injury in a workplace accident, causing problems 

8 While the court cited the proper language 
of the test, Foxhoven involved evidence of prior 
graffiti to prove the identity of graffiti artists 
by modus operandi. In Foxhoven, the Court 
explicitly found the evidence was not admissible to 
prove "common scheme or plan." Id. at 179. 

The confusion of these two concepts is at the 
core of this appeal. 
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with short-term memory and necessary medications. 

After an evaluation, the court eventually found him 

competent. Supp. CP [Subnos. 34, 36, 51]. 

b. Reports of Jesci's Previous Abuse 

Early in her relationship with Eric, Elizabeth 

told him that John Burke had molested Jesci when 

she was five. CP 68; RP 291. Jesci acknowledged 

she talked to Eric about John Burke abusing her. 

Ex. 1-G at 4-6. In the fall of 2011, Jesci asked 

to see a counselor about this abuse. Eric took her 

for an appointment with Torr Lindberg. RP 125-26. 

Lindberg's notes indicate: 

Client describes regular sexual abuse 
around age 5; stepdad would put younger 
sibs to bed and ask her to stay up with 
him and touch him. Moved out when mom 
discovered. No abuse reported after that 
time. 

CP 68-69; RP 121-36. Counsel argued the evidence 

of earlier abuse was relevant because it showed she 

knew about sexual molestation from a prior 

experience and she knew "the process;" when her 

mom discovered the abuse, she got rid of the 

abuser. This report also provided the context for 

telling Mr. Lindberg she had not been abused "after 

that time" -- a direct denial that Eric abused her. 

RP 123-26. 
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The court ruled Jesci' s statements to Nurse 

Mettler that Eric sexually abused her were 

admissible for purposes of medical diagnosis. RP 

106-12. Jesci also reported the earlier abuse to 

nurse Mettler as part of her history for medical 

diagnosis, which the defense intended to offer. RP 

278-79. The State moved to exclude Jesci's report 

that John Burke sexually abused her. Her 

descriptions of Mr. Burke's abuse mirrored her 

allegations against Mr. Schneider: he made her 

watch porn before having sex, it happened on the 

couch, he went as far as he could, and he made the 

same threats. RP 285-89, 875-81; Ex. 25. 

In an interview with defense counsel, Jesci 

denied any abuse occurred with John Burke. She 

claimed Eric planted in her head that she had been 

abused. Her mother told her she didn't think Mr. 

Burke was the kind of guy who could have done those 

things. 9 Counsel argued Jesci's prior statements 

that the abuse occurred indicated her ability to 

make allegations and to change them based on 

conversations with her mother. RP 129-30. It 

9 She did admit he was physically abusive 
and a meth user. RP 289. 
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didn't matter whether the abuse occurred or didn't, 

only that she reported it to others. RP 132-33. 

Jesci reported the same details of the prior abuse 

to Torr Lindberg and Nurse Mettler, for purposes of 

diagnosis and treatment. RP 290-91; Ex. 25. 

The court ruled in limine the evidence of the 

prior abuse was inadmissible for purposes of 

opening statement under ER 403. RP 292-93. 

During cross-examination of Jesci, the defense 

asked her if Eric had discussed another topic with 

her during that first incident in the car. The 

State objected. RP 751-52. The defense offered 

that Jesci told the detective: "He wanted me to 

talk about what another man had done to me when I 

was 5 and so I did." Later she said that over the 

years, Eric said he was "only doing this so I can 

move on from what John did to me." RP 751-59. 

The court concluded this was "other suspect" 

evidence, which would require the prosecutor to 

inquire more about the assault by John, whether it 

was investigated, and what happened. Then it would 

require revisiting the court's ruling in limine 

about her statements to Mr. Lindberg because then 

they would be offered for a different purpose. The 
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court excluded the evidence under ER 403. RP 760-

61.10 

The defense renewed the motion before Nurse 

Mettler testified. Jesci made the same allegations 

against Mr. Burke as she was now making against 

Eric Schneider. The similarities explained how she 

could make up such allegations she'd already 

made them against another person. It didn't matter 

if they were true or not. RP 875-80. 

The court declined the invitation to revisit 

its pretrial ruling. RP 881. 

c. State's Opening 

The State told the jury that Jesci and Alicia 

don't know each other, they've never met, they've 

never spoken to each other. RP 549. 

d. Jesci's Trial Testimony 

Eric first "was intimate" with Jesci in the 

car. Jesci sat on Eric's lap. He asked if she 

loved him, she said she did. He then asked her to 

do something to make him really happy. RP 717-18. 

He tried to penetrate her vaginally, but she said 

it hurt. He said that was okay, they could use the 

10 Defense counsel noted he had not raised 
it as "other suspect" evidence. The court agreed 
it characterized it that way on its own. RP 761. 
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other entry. He penetrated her anally. She 

testified it hurt, but not as much. He kept 

telling her how he loved her, and this is what 

loving people do. RP 718-19. 

"It" happened again, but the first time is the 

only time she remembered. The rest blur. At first 

it was once a week, then at least three times a 

week. RP 720. 

She remembered another time when she and Eric 

went to a father-daughter dance. On the way home 

from the dance, they had vaginal intercourse in the 

truck or car. It was the first time they had 

vaginal intercourse; it didn't hurt so much 

anymore. RP 721-22. 

As she got older, he liked her to wear her 

mom's high heels and stockings. RP 721-23. He 

liked to hit her. He put a belt around her throat, 

partially choking her while raping her. They used 

her mom's adult toys, a vibrator, and a dildo to 

achieve a double penetration. RP 722-24, 766. 

Eric inserted a gun in her vagina more than 

once. RP 724, 776. She bled regularly, both 

vaginally and anally. RP 774-76.

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