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

that Lindberg suspected Schneider abused J.S. App. Br. at 61-62. 

But the phrase "since that time" was not used in the testimony. 

RP 1217-18. Lindberg clearly testified that Schneider was not the 

focus of the session and that it was J.S. who volunteered that 

Schneider was not molesting her. RP 1218. Despite the court's 

ruling excluding reference to prior abuse, defense counsel 

managed to obtain testimony from both Lindberg and J.S. indicating 

17 Schneider's claim that Elizabeth told him that J.S. had been abused by Burke 
is supported by citations to the record that are simply assertions by defense 
counsel. App. Br. at 15 (citing CP 68, RP 291 ). There Is no statement to that 
effect in the record by anyone with personal knowledge. 
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that the subject of the session was prior sexual abuse. RP 1217, 

1221-22 (Lindberg testified that the volunteered denial of abuse 

was natural, in context); RP 825 (asked if they discussed sexual 

matters, J.S. responded that they did talk about "my past" but not 

Schneider's abuse). 

Even if the court's ruling as to the reports of prior abuse 

were error, it was harmless. Evidentiary error is reversible only if 

"within reasonable possibilities, the outcome of the trial would have 

been materially affected had the error not occurred." State v. 

Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 351, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (quoting State v. 

Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997)). Given the 

minimal probative value of J.S.'s reports of possible abuse that 

occurred years before J.S. met Schneider, admitting that evidence 

would not have changed the outcome. 

c. The Exclusion Of This Irrelevant Evidence Did 
Not Violate Schneider's Constitutional Rights. 

Schneider claims that exclusion of this testimony deprived 

him of the ability to put on a defense and of his right to 

confrontation. This argument is without merit. The defendant does 

not have the right to admit otherwise inadmissible evidence simply 

by invoking a claim of a constitutional violation. 
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The right to present evidence in one's defense is a 

fundamental element of due process. State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 

14-15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). But the defendant's right to present 

evidence is not unlimited. l!t, at 15. A defendant has no right to 

present irrelevant or inadmissible evidence. l!t,; State v. Finch, 137 

Wn.2d 792, 824-25, 975 P.2d 967 (1999); State v. Otis, 151 Wn. 

App. 572, 578, 213 P.3d 613 (2009). 

Even when the claim is of a violation of the right to 

confrontation, the trial court's ruling limiting cross-examination will 

be reversed only upon a finding of manifest abuse of discretion. 

State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 752, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). A trial 

court has wide latitude to limit cross-examination about matters 

remote from the charged crimes. kL. at 753. 

The only point identified by Schneider that was significant to 

J.S.'s credibility was whether she had a bias because she wanted 

her mother to obtain custody in the divorce from Schneider. 

However, that potential bias was explored completely in J.S.'s 

testimony - she admitted that was why she disclosed the abuse 

when she did. RP 727, 797. No more detail was necessary to 

convey the point. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 752-53. A court may set 

boundaries on defense counsel's efforts to delve into alleged bias 
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"based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, 

prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, or 

interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant." 1.2:. at 

753 (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall. 475 U.S. 673, 678, 106 S. 

Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986)). The court's limitations in this 

case fell well within these boundaries. 

State v. Jones 18 does not support Schneider's argument. In 

Jones, the defendant was charged with rape and proffered 

testimony that the sexual intercourse had occurred during a sex 

party at which the victim engaged in consensual intercourse with 

three males. 168 Wn.2d at 717. The Supreme Court found error in 

exclusion of evidence relating to the.sex party because it deprived 

Jones of his ability to testify to his version of the incident, which 

was very highly probative. ~at 721-23. Here, by contrast, 

Schneider argues only that the statements were relevant to the 

credibility of J.S., and they had at most marginal probative value. 

Schneider claims that he was denied the ability to 

meaningfully cross-examine J.S., citing State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 

612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). But in Darden, the trial court erred in 

preventing cross-examination of a police officer about the location 

18 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). 
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of his observation post, from which the officer testified that he 

observed Darden's drug dealing. 145 Wn.2d at 615-17. It does not 

justify a conclusion that a witness may be cross-examined about 

her sexual history to establish that she understands the nature of 

sexual intercourse, or to establish that she understands that a 

report of sexual abuse will influence a custody decision. 

Even if the court's limitation was constitutional error, it was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, as the excluded evidence 

added nothing of probative value to the evidence that was admitted 

at trial regarding the charged crimes or the credibility of J.S. 

5. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING 
TESTIMONY OF SCHNEIDER'S CIVIL LAWYER 
THAT J.S. HAD BEEN ADVISED THAT A.S. HAD 
ALLEGED THAT SCHNEIDER SEXUALLY 
ABUSED A.S. 

Schneider called his former civil lawyer, Annetta Spicer, to 

testify that she interviewed J.S. in the course of a civil proceeding in 

2010, and that when Spicer asked if J.S. had been sexually 

molested by Schneider, J.S. said she had not. CP 72. The State 

objected, but the court allowed that testimony. RP 201-05, 281, 

1224-36. Schneider now contends that the trial court abused its 

discretion in sustaining an objection to his question to Spicer, 
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whether J.S. "was made aware of ... the allegation of [A.S.]?" 

RP 1232. This claim has not preserved and is meritless. 

a. Relevant Facts. 

Annetta Spicer represented Schneider in a civil proceeding 

in Oregon related to Schneider's former marriage to A.S.'s sister, 

Jessica. RP 1227. Jessica testified that in that child custody 

proceeding, she filed a declaration that Schneider had sexually 

molested her sister. RP 1023, 1027, 1030-31. Jessica's petition 

for custody includes the statement that Schneider is known to be 

violent and is accused of child molestation and rape. Ex. 45 at 3, 6. 

The name of the alleged victim is not included and there is no 

further detail about that accusation. Ex. 45. 

Jessica's petition did state that "the girls have expressed not 

wanting to see him due to him walking around naked and taping 

them while dressing." Ex. 45 at 3. This is a reference to the 

daughters from Schneider's marriage to Jessica, who are listed as 

the subject of the petition, which requests full custody of those 

three girls. Ex. 45 at 1-2; Ex. 1-A at 37. (Ex. 45 was not admitted.) 

Spicer testified that when she saw that declaration, it 

triggered her conversation with J.S. RP 1230, 1234. She had the 
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conversation with J.S.'s mother in the room, and with Schneider 

waiting down the hall. RP 1236. 

Spicer testified that, prompted by the declaration, she asked 

J.S. "very specific questions about sex abuse and about 

uncomfortable contact," including whether she had ever been 

touched in private places by Schneider. RP 1231. Spicer stated 

that J.S. said nothing had ever happened and J.S. had no issues 

with him. RP 1231-32. Spicer had no notes of her 10 to 15 minute 

interview that occurred four years before trial. RP 1234. 

At the conclusion of direct examination, defense counsel 

asked, "Did this, did your questions, was she made aware of the, of 

the allegation of [A.S.]?" RP 1232. The witness answered before 

the prosecutor could voice his objection, but that objection was 

sustained and the question was stricken. RP 1233. Defense 

counsel did not offer any argument that the question was 

appropriate or the answer admissible. RP 1233. 

b. The Answer To This Question Was Irrelevant 
And The Objection Was Properly Sustained. 

The trial court sustained this objection, as it had sustained 

objections to a number of additional questions attempting to elicit 

Spicer's opinion that Schneider had not abused either J.S. or A.S. 
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RP 1228-31. The State had moved in limine to preclude Spicer 

from opining that she believed J.S. was being truthful or her opinion 

as to the credibility of A.S. CP 229; RP 201. Defense counsel 

represented, "that's not going to happen." RP 201. When it 

permitted Spicer's testimony, the court specified that the witness 

would not be permitted to state "what she believed, who was being 

truthful, and who was being coerced or not." RP 281. 

Despite that ruling, defense counsel elicited Spicer's training 

in the area of sexual assault. RP 1226. He also elicited that she 

was a mandatory reporter and that she had made required reports 

of abuse several times during her career, including reporting her 

own clients. RP 1226-27. In attempting to elicit that the document 

referred to allegations of rape by A.S., counsel was attempting to 

draw the inference that Spicer did not believe that allegation and 

that she believed J.S.'s denial of abuse. Defense counsel elicited 

the things Spicer looked for in determining the credibility of a child's 

denial of abuse. RP 1232. In responding, Spicer listed several 

things that would indicate a child being interviewed had been 

abused and said "this child indicated no, nothing that would raise 

any questions in my mind about the questions that I was asking 

her." RP 1232. This was a clear violation of the court's order 
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prohibiting the witness's opinion as to truthfulness. The very next 

question was the question about an allegation by A.S. RP 1232. 

The prosecutor objected in order to avoid any opinion being elicited 

as to the veracity of A.S.'s allegations, whether that opinion was 

attributed to J.S. or to Spicer. 

In any event, the only thing that Spicer knew about A.S.'s 

allegations was that A.S. accused Schneider of "sexual molestation 

and rape." Ex. 45 at 3, 6. Spicer testified that Ex. 45 was the sole 

basis of her interview of J.S. RP 1230, 1234. There is no citation 

to the record to support Schneider's claim that Spicer told J.S. 

anything else about "what [A.S.] claimed [Schneider] had done to 

her." App. Br. at 62. Thus, Schneider's argument that this 

evidence detracted from the probative value of the similarities of the 

girls' description of abuse is entirely without merit. It would be 

misleading to argue that it did detract from the corroborative value 

of the similarities described by the two girls, when Spicer had no 

knowledge of the details of A.S. 's allegations that she could have 

conveyed to J.S. 
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c. Schneider Has Not Established That The 
Prosecutor's Reference To The Striking Of 
This Testimony Was Prosecutorial Misconduct. 

Schneider argues that the prosecutor knowingly used false 

evidence to obtain the conviction because the prosecutor knew that 

Spicer told J.S. about what Schneider had done to A.S. but argued 

that J.S. did not know. Because Spicer did not know the details of 

A.S.'s allegations, and could not have told J.S. about them, this 

argument is frivolous. Schneider does not claim that the 

prosecutor's statements in closing inaccurately stated the evidence. 

As a preliminary matter, Schneider did not raise this 

constitutional claim in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a) bars consideration 

of this issue. A claim of error may be raised for the first time on 

appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." 

RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 

1251 (1995). No such error has been identified. 

The prosecutor's argument was a fair response to defense 

counsel's closing remarks, which misled the jurors by arguing that 

as a result of Spicer's interview, J.S. knew what A.S.'s allegations 

were. RP 1294. There was no evidence that Spicer told J.S. 

anything about abuse reported by A.S. - that answer was stricken. 

RP 1233. Beyond that, there is no evidence that Spicer knew what 

- 60 -
1509-1 Schneider COA 



A.S.'s allegations were - the document Spicer had did not provide 

any detail beyond "sexual molestation and rape." RP 1294; Ex. 45. 

A.S. testified that she did not talk about the details of Schneider's 

rapes to anyone other than in the two law enforcement interviews 

(2003 and June 2010) and the defense interview in this case in 

2014. RP 990. There is no suggestion that Spicer had access to 

the contents of the single law enforcement interview that occurred 

before her April 2010 interview with J.S. 

In rebuttal, the prosecutor pointed out that defense counsel's 

question to Spicer about J.S.'s knowledge of A.S.'s allegations was 

stricken. RP 1300. This was correct. RP 1233. His argument that 

J.S. did not know the details of the rapes reported by A.S. is an 

accurate reflection of the record. There was nothing improper in 

that argument and even if it had been improper, the prosecutor is 

permitted to respond to misleading defense arguments. State v. 

Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 276, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). Schneider has 

not established that the argument was so prejudicial it could not 

have been cured - it was an accurate reflection of the record, and 

defense counsel at trial did not find it sufficiently prejudicial to make 

object on that basis. The absence of an objection by defense 

counsel "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in 
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question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the 

context of trial." State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53 n.2, 134 

P.3d 221 (2006) (emphasis in original) (quoting State v. Swan, 114 

Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)). 

Schneider does not dispute that J.S. did not know A.S. 

RP 742, 991. In his lengthy cross-examination of J.S., he did not 

ask whether she had heard the details of A.S.'s rape allegations at 

any point. RP 7 43-838, 850-52. 19 The defense theory was the 

reverse: that AS. had changed her description of the abuse that 

she suffered because she had learned details of Schneider's abuse 

of J.S. RP 979, 1031, 1293. 

Schneider offers no authority for the proposition that a 

closing argument constitutes "false evidence." The standard on 

review of trial irregularities is whether the misconduct prejudiced 

the jury and as a result deny the defendant a fair trial guaranteed 

by the due process clause. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 

675 P.2d 1213 (1984). The correction of a misleading closing 

argument by the defense does not fall within this category of error. 

19 In closing argument, defense counsel argued that when J.S. said "you lied 
about Oregon" in her letter to Schneider (Ex. 4), she was referring to the rapes of 
A.S. RP 1294. Defense counsel did not ask the meaning of that reference in 
cross-examination, perhaps because it is likely that J.S. was referring not to 
sexual abuse, but to her belief that Schneider had murdered men in Oregon. 
RP 1345. 
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6. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING 
COURT COSTS. 

Schneider claims for the first time on appeal that he is not 

employable, is indigent, and the trial court's imposition of $887.50 

was in violation of RCW 10.01.160 because the court did not 

conduct an inquiry into Schneider's ability to pay before concluding 

that he was able to do so. This Court should decline to consider 

this issue, because any error was invited and because the issue 

was not preserved. As to the merits of the claim, the record 

supports the judge's conclusion that Schneider would have the 

ability to pay $887 at some time in the future. 

A defendant who invites error may not claim on appeal that 

he is entitled to reversal based on that error. State v. Studd, 137 

Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P .2d 1049 (1999). The invited error doctrine 

bars relief regardless of whether counsel intentionally or 

inadvertently encouraged the error. Seattle v. Patu, 147 Wn.2d 

717, 720, 58 P.3d 273 (2002). At sentencing, defense counsel 

asserted that Schneider was a "productive member of the 

community" and claimed that at a bail hearing Schneider had 

presented evidence that he worked throughout his adult life. 

RP 1347-48; see RP 11 (bail hearing). Counsel did not suggest 
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that Schneider was disabled. ~ Schneider did not dispute this 

characterization. RP 1348. These representations indicated that 

Schneider would be financially able to pay the $887 in court costs 

in addition to the $600 in mandatory fines imposed.2° CP 58. He 

should not now be permitted to challenge the finding that he 

encouraged the court to make. 

Even if the error was not invited, this court should decline to 

review it under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Because Schneider alleges only a 

statutory violation, he is not entitled to review for the first time on 

appeal. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 

(2015). While the Supreme Court in Blazina exercised its discretion 

to address the findings necessary to impose discretionary legal 

financial obligations, that was in the context of establishing a

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